
TBM 042611 Page 1 

PAHRUMP TOWN BOARD MEETING 
NYE COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX 

2100 E WALT WILLIAMS DRIVE 
TUESDAY – 7:00 P.M. 

APRIL 26, 2011 

MINUTES 

 

PRESENT:      ABSENT: 
  Town Board:          Staff: 
   Mike Darby     Matt Lewis, Building and Ground Manager 
   Vicky Parker 
   Carolene Endersby 
   Harley Kulkin 
   Tom Waters 
 Staff:  
  Bill Kohbarger, Town Manager   

   Brett Meich, Attorney 
   Al Balloqui, Community Business Economic Development 
   Michael Sullivan, Finance Director 
   Scott Lewis, Fire Chief 

 

1. Call to Order, Moment of Silence, and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mike Darby called the meeting to order. Tom Waters led in a moment of silence and Pledge of 
Allegiance. Carolene Endersby read aloud the Nevada Open Meeting Law which provides the 
authority of the Chair to maintain decorum and civility. 
 
Bill Kohbarger said that he had been asked to put the Open Meeting Law on the Agenda cover 
page. 
After deliberation from the Board, Mr. Darby made the decision to have the Open Meeting Law 
printed on the Agenda cover page. 
 

 
2. Discussion and Possible Decision regarding Moving the Order of or Deleting an Agenda Item(s).  

 
Mrs. Parker said she would like to separate Item 14.d under the consent agenda to be read after the 
consent agenda. 
She also asked to have Item 7 placed as Item 3a. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 
 

3. Announcements  
 
Announcements were read by Mrs. Endersby. 



TBM 042611 Page 2 

 
Dr. Waters emphasized that the Veteran’s Memorial Board meeting on May 19th had a change of 
venue from the Annex to the Town Office. 
He also announced that Community Youth Garden’s Box Selection would be on April 28th at 5pm 
and would have their ground breaking ceremony at April 30th at 9am. 
 
Mrs. Endersby announced a health fair on April 29th from 10am – 2pm at Desert View Hospital. 
She also announced that the Head Start Collaboration Early Childhood System office would hold a 
summit on early childhood mental and social emotional health at the Tuscany Hotel Las Vegas on 
May 12th from 9am to 3pm. 
Finally, she announced the 12th Annual Stand for Children Date Teacher of the Year celebration on 
May 21st at 11:30am at Rosemary Clark Middle School. 
 
James Gregory announced that the Prostate Cancer Support Group would meet on April 28th at the 
Pahrump Library from 4pm. 
 
Sandra Darby announced a Libertarian meeting would take place on May 4th starting at 6pm at 
Area’s Restaurant followed by a social event at Sheri’s Brothel at 8pm. 
 
Will Bond announced that LWD Inc. was now licensed in Pahrump for drug and alcohol 
consortium and that he would be contacting businesses in town. 
 
Paula Elefante announced that the Pahrump PowWow was still recycling used ink cartridges. 
 
Bob Irving announced a breakfast in honor of Mike Greer at the Nugget from 5am on April 29th. 
 
Anthony Falcone mentioned on May 6th at Desert View Hospital, there would be a stand down for 
needy and homeless veterans as well as other homeless citizens. He listed a number of services 
which would be provided for these citizens. 
 
 

4. Public Comment: Action may not be taken on matters considered during this period until 
specifically included on an agenda as an action item – NRS241.020(2)(c)(3).  
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
 

5. Advisory Board Reports from Advisory Board Chairpersons and/or Town Board Liaisons on the 
Status of Advisory Boards.  
 
Harley Kulkin stated that the Public Lands Advisory Board had a special meeting the day before 
and publicly thanked Mr. Hackley for his research and information as well as dedicated effort. 
 
Mrs. Endersby stated that the Incorporation Advisory Board was looking into the pros and cons of 
forming a charter as well as what the aspects of Incorporation and non-Incorporation would be. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger thanked the Pahrump Nuclear Waste and Environmental Board for putting together 
a very good Earth Day. He also thanked John Pawlak for information he had shared with the public 
on the day. 



TBM 042611 Page 3 

 
Mr. Pawlak thanked everyone for coming to the Earth Day event and spoke about the 11th Annual 
Town Cleanup on May 7th starting at 7:00am. It would be sponsored through the Nuclear Waste and 
Environmental Advisory Board. 

 
 
6. Town of Pahrump Economic Development Report.  

 
Mr. Kohbarger stated that he, Mr. Balloqui, and a County representative visited with a company 
that day in Las Vegas which was considering coming to Pahrump to move forward with a business 
plan. 
 
Mrs. Parker said that she had received a number of calls about the prospect of a hookah lounge 
starting business in Pahrump. 
 
Mrs. Endersby stated that for business development, business licenses had increased since 2007, 
and that there have been fewer requests for license packets. She questioned how the Town might be 
able to do more PR to attract businesses to request more license packets. 
 
Al Balloqui spoke of the company which he and Mr. Kohbarger had met earlier in the day and that 
he had spoken with the international company eight times previously. 
He appealed to a few public comments that were made, saying they were unfounded and unfair 
when the accused person and/or department could not respond. He suggested members of the public 
who had questions direct those questions to staff in order to get the facts straight before making 
assumptions and accusations. 

 
 
7. Presentation by the Mr. Carl Dahlen, Community Assessment Coordinator-Nevada Rural 

Development Council pertaining to Community Assessments.  
(was heard after Item 3) 
 
Carl Dahlen stated that they had already done nine assessments for other communities. He 
proceeded to give an overview of what a community assessment entails including the process of 
listening sessions and possible action plans after assessments. 
 
Mr. Darby thanked Mr. Dahlen for his presentation. 
 
Dr. Waters added that Mr. Dahlen answered all questions he had during the presentation. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said it appeared the biggest effort in the process was for citizens to come forward, 
which seemed to be a challenge for the community to see the importance of this. 
She asked what Mr. Dahlen’s experience was a year after a community received their results. 
Mr. Dahlen said that the communities which chose to embrace the changes moved in a very positive 
direction. He later encouraged members and staff to contact the communities which had already 
received the assessments in order to get their feedback. 
 
Mr. Kulkin mentioned that the biggest hurdle the Town needed to overcome was working with the 
County, as Nye County hadn’t seemed to do well in planning for the future. He asked if Mr. Dahlen 
could help the Town to form a better working relationship with the County. 



TBM 042611 Page 4 

Mr. Dahlen responded that, in similar situations, they had recommended to start holding regular 
joint meetings in order to share concerns from both directions. He said it was building relationships 
between the individuals of the Town and county that needed to take place in order to move forward. 
 
Mrs. Parker said she had heard nothing but good things about the program, and that it was a lot of 
bang for the buck. She added that the cost seemed like a very good deal. She also mentioned that 
the members of the assessment team would be volunteers from rural communities of Nevada. 
Mr. Dahlen stated that the committee would be made up of people from outside Pahrump and Nye 
County, so that they could form non-biased opinions with fresh eyes. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said, as Mr. Dahlen pointed out, it is the responsibility of the community to come 
together and listen to each other in order to have their voice be part of the findings. She said that 
after this was accomplished, the results would be wide spread and there were a number of benefits 
which couldn’t be accomplished if the Town didn’t have a good relationship with the County. She 
asked if there was a way to work with the County on initiating the process. She also inquired if 
there was a way to share costs. 
Mr. Dahlen responded that he would be happy to speak with County representatives, which he had 
already scheduled to meet with the following day. As to costs, he said it could come from a number 
of different possible sources depending on the Town’s situation, including grants. 
 
Dr. Waters said he agreed with Mrs. Parker that the price seemed very reasonable and asked if in 
previously completely assessments, the $15,000 was sufficient to complete the entire process. 
Mr. Dahlen confirmed that it had been, as $10,000 was used for the service and $5,000 was   more 
to initiate the process of moving forward. 

 
 
8. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve a Proclamation for the Benevolent and Protective 

Order of Elks Declaring the First Week of May as Youth Week to Honor America’s Junior Citizens 
for their accomplishments and to give fitting recognition of their Community, State and Nation.  
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned to approve. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 
 
Mrs. Endersby thanked the Elks for doing so much for the youth and community. She continued by 
reading the proclamation, which proclaimed the first week of May as Youth Week. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 
Mrs. Endersby recognized town staff and the Town Board for their participation in Project 5000 
Kids Shadow Day in February. 
 

 
9. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve One of the following three (03) Options Pertaining to 

the Next Step on the Last Chance Park Development: Option 1, Proceed with the Mitigation of 
location #1 (Bell Vista @ Bannavitch) not to exceed $10,000.00, or Option 2, Start the Process to 
Investigate location #2 (Bannavitch @ Simkins Road) and location #3 (SR 160) or Option 3, 
Discontinue the entire Project.  
 
Dr. Waters motioned to approve option one. 



TBM 042611 Page 5 

He withdrew his motion in light of new information which could be made available via a 
presentation by Bob Adams. 
 
Mr. Adams stated that the Public Lands Advisory Board recommended initiating a challenge to the 
BLM and petition to be included as consultants on the matter. 
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned to accept the Bell Vista property, not to exceed $10,000 and also to 
direct staff to move forward with challenging litigation while including Mr. Adams and Mr. 
Hackley to move forward. 
Mrs. Parker seconded. 
 
Mrs. Parker said that, having been at the Public Lands Advisory Board meeting the night before, 
she saw an immense amount of research from them and therefore commended them on their efforts. 
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Motion carried, 3-2, with Mrs. Endersby and Mr. Darby voting nay. 
 

 
10. Discussion and Possible Decision to Amend the Lease with Option to Purchase Agreement with 

Growponics Nevada to Extend Agreement Deadlines by Six Months and to approve assignment of 
the Agreement from Growponics to Water Lily Ranch and All Matters Properly Related Thereto.  
 
Mr. Kulkin said, after much research, he thought it was in the best interest of the community not to 
grant the extension as there were too many entities which couldn’t seem to work together on the 
item. 
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned not to grant the six month extension. 
Mrs. Endersby seconded. 
 
Dr. Waters stated that he believed it should take place legally, and grant the extension. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said she respectfully disagreed with Dr. Waters, and believed the Town needed to 
follow through with the current contract as stated. 
 
Mr. Darby said he had not agreed with the item since its inception. 
 
Mrs. Parker spoke of Nevada’s U-6 definition, which encompasses those who collect 
unemployment or have given up. She read part off of the latest federal report on unemployment 
rates through March 2011 which showed Nevada’s unemployment rate at 23.7%, the highest in the 
Nation. 
 
Mrs. Endersby asked Mr. Kulkin if he would consider amending his motion to be inclusive of not 
moving forward with the assignment as well. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said he believed the items should be ruled on separately. 

 
Mr. Kohbarger said the assignment was changing the name from Growponics LLC to Water Lily 
Ranch LLC. 



TBM 042611 Page 6 

He also stated that this property was not given to the Town by a citizen to create a park, but by the 
County after it was taken in 1955 for back taxes, as there seemed to be a misconception as to how 
the property was acquired and its designated use. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said he would like to address the assignment at a later time. 
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Motion carried, 4-1, with Dr. Waters voting nay. 
 
Mr. Kulkin made a motion to approve the assignment of the agreement from Growponics 
LLC to Water Lily Ranch LLC. 
Mrs. Parker seconded. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said he didn't see a problem with Growponics LLC changing its name. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said that her concern was that if Growponics took any action, the Town would have 
been perpetrating something that was not what they had necessarily had the desire to perpetrate. She 
said the she believed the contract should stay as it stood without any changes. 
 
Mrs. Parker said it was her understanding that they could not reasonably hold assignment. 
 
Counsel said if the Board decided to deny the assignment, it could possibly become a legal matter. 
 
Mr. Darby stated that changing the contract would possibly open the Town to further lawsuits. 

 
Mr. Kulkin said there seemed to be a misunderstanding from the public. He stated that whether or 
not the name change is made the contract would still end on June 1st. 
 
Mrs. Parker said Mr. Kashani owned a number of LLC's, and this item was only involving two. She 
said it would be unreasonable not to allow the name change. 
Dr. Waters also stated it would be unreasonable not to allow the name change. 
 
Mrs. Endersby quoted part of the contract, stating that there was nothing that had come forward to 
show her there had been due diligence. 
 
Motion carried, 4-1, with Mrs. Endersby voting nay. 
 

 
11. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Staff extending funds to purchase a new or used 

vehicle for the Town’s Administration not to exceed $30,000.00.  
 
Mr. Kulkin stated that the Town of Pahrump needed a positive image and he believed a new vehicle 
would help achieve this. He made mention that the vehicle would be available to the Town 
Manager, as well as any other staff who needed to show visitors around Pahrump. 
 
Mrs. Parker mentioned that a replacement vehicle had been in the budget the previous year, but was 
never acted on. She also said the current vehicle was uncomfortable. 
 



TBM 042611 Page 7 

Mr. Kulkin motioned to approve. 
Mrs. Parker seconded. 
 
Counsel suggested that Mr. Kulkin restate his motion to move to approve that the Town Board to 
approve the expenditure not to exceed $25,000, with the final approval of vehicle type to Mr. 
Kulkin. 
 
Dr. Waters asked Mr. Kulkin to amend his motion to say the vehicle would be bought locally. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said she believed the expenditure was unwarranted as the Town didn’t have the 
budget set as of yet. 
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Dr. Waters stated that he agreed with Mr. Kulkin, image is important, however they may want to 
hold the item until after the Budget Meeting on May 19th. 
 
Mr. Kulkin withdrew his motion. 
Mrs. Parker withdrew her second. 
 
Mrs. Endersby motioned to table the item until after the Budget Hearing on May 19th. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 

 
12. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Changing the word “Towards” in the Town’s Motto 

to “Toward” and/or Changing the Entire Town Motto and Town Seal.  
 
Dr. Waters motioned to remove the “S” from the word “towards” to make it grammatically 
correct. 
Mrs. Endersby seconded. 
 
Mrs. Parker stated that the “S” had bothered her for ten years, however it would be expensive to 
replace all of the town items such as envelopes, seals, and decals. She said it would be an 
unnecessary expense at a time the Town needed to watch the budget. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger clarified whether it was direction of the Town Board for him to use a magic marker 
to cross out the “S” on Town items, as Dr. Waters had previously suggested. 
Dr. Waters used a suggestion from Mrs. Endersby that changes be made to items, such as 
stationary, as they were reordered. 

 
Mrs. Parker and Mr. Kulkin both said that perhaps we should look at changing the Town Motto 
completely, to something more professional. 

 
Dr. Waters amended his motion to state to officially change the current Town Motto to take 
the “S” off of “towards” with how and when to be determined later. 
Mrs. Endersby seconded. 

 



TBM 042611 Page 8 

Mrs. Parker stated that the “S” was grammatically correct as the dictionary states. 
 

Public comment was heard. 
 

Motion carried, 3-2, with Mrs. Parker and Mr. Darby voting nay. 
 
 
13. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Funding for the Town’s share of the Joint Town-

County Fiber Optic Cable Project in an amount not to exceed $7,500.00 budgeted and payable from 
the General Fund.  
 
Mrs. Endersby asked when the Town was notified by the county of the remaining $7,500 which was 
meant to be supplied by the Town. 
Mr. Kohbarger replied that Matt Luis had been working with the County on this for a while, but that 
the Town was not notified of the official cost until after the last meeting of County Commissioners. 
 
Mr. Kulkin asked who owned the land by the Fire Department which the cable would be running 
through.  
Mr. Kohbarger responded that the Town owned it. 
 
Mrs. Endersby strongly recommended that the Town agree to this but expressed concern that they 
may receive a request from the County for more funds should costs increase. 
 
Mrs. Endersby motioned to approve. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said he preferred a motion be made to ask the County to incur all costs for the Town, as 
it would be a nice offering. 
 
Mrs. Parker said Mr. Kulkin’s request could be added to the motion because if the County decided 
not to incur all costs, the Town would still have the amount to be paid. 
 
Mrs. Endersby amended her motion to first have staff request the County to cover the total 
cost, and should they not agree, to go ahead and pay the amount. 
Dr. Waters seconded.  
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0 
 
 

14. Discussion and Possible Decision Consent agenda items:  
a. Action – Approval of Town Vouchers. 
b. Action – Approval of Town Board Minutes March 08, 2011. 
c. Action – Approval to accept Mr. Lennon O’Donnell and Ms. Darbie O’Donnell to the 

Pahrump Youth  Advisory Board 
d. Action – Approval to accept Mr. William “Bill” Garlough, Mr. Bruce Calley, Mr. Joel 

McMillin, Mr. Dean Brooks, Mrs. Donna Cox, Mrs. Sandra Darby, Mr. Ted Holmes, Mrs. 
Laurayne Murray, Mr. Robert Smith, Mr. Gary Vavzycki, Ms. Alexander Delgado, Mr. George 



TBM 042611 Page 9 

Demas, Mr. Tim McCall and Mr. Dan Morrow to the Pahrump Boundary Line Advisory 
Board. 
 
Mrs. Parker motioned to approve Consent Agenda Items a, b, and c, with noted changes 
to b. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 
 

14d. Mrs. Parker said she was very pleased to see so many people had applied to be on the Boundary 
Line Advisory Board, however the majority of applicants did not correctly complete the form 
and didn’t supply information under the heading of ‘qualifications, experience, or interests that 
would considered an asset to the Advisory Board.’ 
 
Mrs. Parker motioned to accept William “Bill” Garlough, Bruce  Calley, Donna Cox, 
Sandra Darby, and Laurayne Murray to the Pahrump Boundary Line Advisory Board. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said everyone who applied should be given appreciation for doing so. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 
 

15. Future Meetings/Workshops: Date, Time and Location 
a. Town of Pahrump Final Budget Hearing – May 19, 2011 @ 7:00 p.m. at the Town Annex. 

 
 
16. Town Board Member’s Comments  

 
Dr. Waters asked that people pay attention to announcements at the beginning of every meeting so 
that they may attend any Advisory Board meetings. 
 
Mrs. Endersby reported that the Task Force for the Community Center had four applicants. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said that concerns with the location of Last Chance Park included the development of 
the property and that ignoring the situation would not work, as BLM land was completely open to 
the public. With concerns from the public of Native American remains buried on the property, any 
person could dig anything up, not respecting Native American beliefs and customs, and keep what 
they may find rather than replacing it in the land they belong. He stated that the neighbors of the 
area were trying to protect this from happening. 
 
Mrs. Parker spoke of the Kellogg property, saying the Town had problems with the County over it, 
whether or not Mr. Kashani left. She said she would like to schedule a closed session with legal to 
best resolve this problem with the County. 
 
Dr. Darby commented on the state of the pool, saying it looked like things were going great and 
coming right along on schedule. 
 



TBM 042611 Page 10 

 
17. Town Manager’s Report. 

 
Mr. Kohbarger gave the report. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said he liked the format on the agenda and would like to see it on every agenda. He also 
inquired as to NDOT and the 2 hour parking by McDonalds. 
Mr. Kohbarger agreed and that he had been pursuing the requested removal, but NDOT had given 
him a solid no. 
Mr. Kulkin asked that Mr. Kohbarger speak with PAVED. 
Mr. Kohbarger said that he advised the people with PAVED that if they wanted to bring back an 
MOU with any property besides the Kellogg property, the Town would be happy to look at it. The 
response he received back was very impolite. 
 
Mr. Darby pointed out that the Town Managers Report is only on the second meeting of the month. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said there was a staff comment about what was happening with health insurance 
coverage with HPN for staff, and how HPN’s decision to withdraw local coverage for some 
providers was impacting the Town. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger said he would get back to them as soon as HR was back from vacation. 

 
 
18. Adjournment  

 
Meeting was adjourned by Mr. Darby at 12:44am. 


